eid Tj 1992 3 CLERK, SUPREME COURT. By. **Chief Deputy Clerk**

RICARDO HERNANDEZ,

DCA CASE NO. 90-1522

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CLAYTON R. KAEISER, ESQUIRE KAEISER and POTOLSKY, P.A. Special Assistant Public Defender One Northeast Second Avenue Suite 200 - White Building Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 530-8090 Florida Bar No. 348120

Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, RICARDO HERNANDEZ, was the Defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal, Third District. The Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal. In this brief, the Appellant will be referred to as Petitioner and the Appellee as the State.

The symbol "R" will designate the 513 page record on appeal forwarded to this Court by the District Court of Appeal, while the symbol "TR" will designate the 2472 pages of trial court transcripts similarly transmitted to this Court. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

ţ

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner was tried for and convicted of first degree felony murder, conspiracy to commit burglary, armed burglary, armed kidnapping, and attempted robbery. (R.509). The charges against the Petitioner stemmed from events that occurred during a home invasion burglary involving several people. (R.510). Two Codefendants entered guilty pleas and testified at the Petitioner's trial about his participation in the charged crimes. (R.510). The defense raised was that the Petitioner had been misidentified by the nonaccomplice witnesses and that the accomplice witnesses were lying about the Petitioner's involvement in the incident. (TR.1994-2100).

Prior to trial, the State filed a motion to permit the victim's two children, David and Andrea, ages 8 and 11, witnesses to the murder, to testify by way of closed-circuit television. (R.510). The motion relied explicitly on §92.55, Florida Statutes (1989). (R.302-303). After considering the testimony of a psychologist who had examined the children, the Court ruled that they would suffer severe emotional harm if they were required to testify in open court. (R.510). The trial court permitted the children to testify from the Judge's chambers by way of one-way closed-circuit television. (R.510).

David remembered being at home in his room on the night in question. (TR.1511). David got up from bed that night when he heard a shot or crash. (TR.1513). At that time, a man came to David's room with a gun in his hand and forced David to go to the living room. (TR.1513). In the living room, the man made David sit on the sofa with his mother. (TR.1514). The man then went and forced David's sister Andrea into the living room. (TR.1514-15). David and Andrea sat on the sofa with their mother, and the man asked for money. (TR.1515-16). David's mother told the man not to kill her children, and, while the man was standing to the left, he shot David's mother. (TR.1516-17). Andrea then left the house to call the children's aunt, and David remained in the house. (TR.1518). David and Andrea later stayed with their Aunt Beatrice. (TR.1519).

While staying at Beatrice's house, the children were visited by a police artist. (TR.1520). The artist had Andrea describe the man who shot her mother and drew a picture based on her description. (TR.1484, 1520). The artist then showed this "composite" sketch to David who identified it as the man who shot his mother. (TR.1520). This sketch was introduced into evidence. (R.402; TR.1521). The prosecution later argued that the sketch represented a rough likeness of the Petitioner. (TR.2104-05). David also testified about his identification of the Petitioner from a six-person photo lineup shown to him by Detective Koslowski in South America about a year after the shooting. (R.403; TR.1522, 1844).

David remembered that one black man and two white men in masks were in his house on the night of the shooting. (TR.1525). David testified that the man who shot his mother held the gun in his left hand when he fired the shot. (TR.1531). On crossexamination, David remembered that his mother sat in between his sister and him to David's left when she was shot. (TR.1532-33). David was looking at his mother and did not look at the man when he shot David's mother. (TR.1533). David did claim, however, that he looked at that man's face for "many hours." (TR.1534). David admitted that he had stated in a deposition that the man who shot his mother was wearing a stocking on his face and that all the men in the house that night were white. (TR.1535-36).

Andrea Acosta was awakened at 12:35 a.m. by the sound of broken glass and shots being fired. (TR. 1480). A man with a gun took Andrea from her bedroom to the living room where her mother and brother were sitting on the sofa. (TR.1481). While they sat on the sofa, the man with the gun shot Andrea's mother, and Andrea then ran to her next door neighbor's house. (TR.1483). Andrea remembered describing the shooter to the police artist and described the "composite" picture as looking like the man who shot her mother. (TR. 1484-90). Andrea remembered speaking to Detective Garafalo but did not recall telling him that all of the men in the house that night were white latin men. (TR.1495). Andrea said that her brother told her that she was wrong when she made this comparison. (TR.1496). Andrea could not remember if the shooter was wearing a mask that night. (TR.1501).

On appeal, the Petitioner argued that the trial court violated his right to confrontation under the United States and Florida Constitutions in allowing the children to testify by way of closed-circuit television. (R.510-511). The Petitioner contended that the absence of an enabling statute or rule permitting such testimony rendered the trial court's ruling subject to reversal and cited *Ford v. State*, 592 So.2d 271 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991) in support of this position. (R.511). The Petitioner also argued that the method used to present the children's testimony did not comply with confrontation clause requirements, as set forth in *Maryland v. Craig*, _____ U.S. ____, 110 S.Ct. 3157, 111 L.Ed. 2d 666 (1990). (R.511).

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the Petitioner's conviction and upheld the trial court's ruling. The Third District rejected the argument that, since §92.55 was a non-operative statute, there was no legal authority to legitimize the presentation of closecircuit testimony in a homicide case and certified conflict with *Ford v. State, supra,* and the Second District Court of Appeal on this issue. (R.511). The Third District ruled that the Petitioner had to show that the use of closed circuit testimony denied him due process of law in order to succeed in his demand for a new trial. (R.511). The Third District found no such due process violation and also held that the closed circuit testimony procedure employed at trial did not amount to a violation of the Petitioner's right of confrontation. (R.511-13).

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO ALLOW TWO CHILD WITNESSES TO TESTIFY VIA CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION IN A NON-SEXUAL ABUSE CASE AND, IN SO DOING, VIOLATED THE PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal erred in upholding the trial court's decision to allow the witnesses in question to testify *via* closed circuit television. The statute cited by the trial court in support of its decision, §92.55, is specifically non-operational and has never been approved by this Court. The District Court of Appeal failed to take into consideration the unique provision of the Florida Constitution which places trial court rule making authority in this Court. Since this Court never approved §92.55 and the closed circuit testimony amounted to a violation of the Petitioner's constitutional right to confrontation, this Court must reverse and remand for a new trial.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN UPHOLDING THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO ALLOW TWO CHILD WITNESSES TO TESTIFY VIA CLOSED CIRCUIT TELEVISION IN A NON-SEXUAL ABUSE CASE AND, IN SO DOING, VIOLATED THE PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The trial court was incorrect in allowing the closed circuit testimony to occur. The statute which the trial court relied upon to allow the closed circuit testimony, §92.55, is a statute in which the Florida Legislature requested this Court to adopt amendments to the Rule of Criminal Procedure allowing a trial judge to "enter any order necessary to protect a child under the age of 16 who is a victim or witness in any judicial proceeding." This statute was merely a recommendation, however, and this Court, to date, has not adopted the rules recommended. Consequently, the statute was and is a nullity, and the trial court had no basis for this ruling. The closed circuit testimony amounted to a violation of the Defendant's constitutional right to face-to-face confrontation. *See Maryland v. Craig*, ______U.S. _____, 110 S.Ct. 3157, 111 L.Ed. 2d 666 (1990); *Coy v. Iowa*, 487 U.S. 1012, 108 S.Ct. 2798, 101 L.Ed. 2d 857 (1988).

In Maryland v. Craig, supra., the United States Supreme Court ruled that, while an accused's constitutional right to face-to-face confrontation is not easily dispensed with, the prosecution may deny it if the denial "is necessary to further an important public policy and only where the reliability of the testimony is otherwise assured." *Id.*, _____ U.S. at _____, 110 S.Ct. at 3166, 111 L.Ed.2d at _____. In the present case, the denial of the Defendant's right to confront the child witnesses failed this two-pronged test because a sufficiently important state interest did not exist and the reliability of the testimony in question was not otherwise assured. Accordingly, the Defendant's constitutional rights were violated.

8

§92.55, Florida Statutes (1989) states, in relevant part, as follows:

92.55 Judicial or other proceedings involving child victim or witness under the age of 16; special protections.-- The Legislature finds that rule 3.220, Rules of Criminal Procedure, Rule 1.280, Rules of Civil Procedure, and Rule 8.070, Rules of Juvenile Procedure, as such rules pertain to protective orders, are not adequate in protecting the interests of children as witnesses in criminal, civil, or juvenile proceedings. Accordingly, the Legislature requests the Supreme Court, pursuant to the authority vested in the court by s.2(a), Art. V, State Constitution, to adopt, as emergency rules, amendments to the Rules of Criminal Procedure, the Rules of Civil Procedure, and the Rules of Juvenile Procedure, providing for the following:

> (1) Upon motion of any party, upon motion of a parent, guardian, attorney, or guardian ad litem for a child under the age of 16, or upon its own motion, the court may enter any order necessary to protect a child under the age of 16 who is a victim or witness in any judicial proceeding or other official proceeding from severe emotional or mental harm. Such orders shall relate to the taking of testimony and shall include, but not be limited to:

> (a) Interviewing or the taking of depositions as part of a civil or criminal proceeding.

(b) Examination and cross-examination for the purpose of qualifying as a witness or testifying in any proceeding.

(c) The use of testimony taken outside of the courtroom, including proceedings under §§90.90 and 92.54. (footnote omitted).

The Legislature included §92.55 in Chapter 85-53, Laws of Florida. Chapter 85-53 also included language amending §92.53, Florida Statutes (1989) (Sexual abuse or child abuse case; videotaping or testimony of victim or witness under age 16) and establishing §92.54, Florida Statutes (1989)(Use of closed circuit television in proceedings involving sexual offenses against victims under the age of 16) and §90.803(23), Florida Statutes (1989) (Hearsay exceptions; statement of child victim). This court has upheld §§90.803(23), 92.53, and 92.54 against constitutional attacks. See Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d 212 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 492 U.S. 907, 109 S.Ct. 3219, 106 L.Ed. 2d 569 (1989); Perez v. State, 536 So.2d 206 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 492 U.S. 923, 109 S.Ct. 3253, 106 L.Ed. 2d 599 (1988). The Legislature did not include language requesting Supreme Court adoption, "pursuant to the authority vested in the court by §2(a) Art V, State Constitution," in any of the other pieces of legislation included within Chapter 85-53.

In Ford v. State, 592 So.2d 271 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), the Second District Court of Appeal ruled that the "non-operative" nature of §92.55 made it inapplicable in a case in which the State used the statute to introduce the videotaped testimony of the Defendant's stepdaughter in a first degree murder case. The Ford court noted that the legislature had restricted the procedures contained in §§92.53 and 92.54 to child abuse/sexual abuse cases and that there was no statute or other authority which provided for the use of videotaped testimony in a homicide case. Id. at 275. The Ford court noted that the use of videotaped testimony in the absence of legal authority contravened the Defendant's right to confrontation. Id. In discussing §92.55, the Ford court noted that:

Section 92.55 is a non-operative statute as the legislature did not act. We decline the state's invitation to legislate, deferring to the body in whose province such action would be more properly addressed.

Id. The reasoning and analysis of Ford v. State were sound and apply with equal force in the instant case.

In its opinion below, the Third District rejected the reasoning of *Ford v. State* and cited to *Ashley v. State*, 265 So.2d 685, 692 (Fla. 1972) for its ruling that "the trial court's use of a procedure not specifically authorized by statute or rule of court does not automatically entitle Defendant to a new trial. (R.511). This principle, and the rule espoused in *Ashley* are inapplicable to the instant situation.

Ashley v. State, supra., concerned a situation in which the trial court allowed a jury

to return a "split verdict" in a first degree murder/death penalty case. Id. at 690. Specifically, the trial court instructed the jury that it was first to retire and deliberate on the issue of guilt only; in the event that the verdict was one of guilty as charged, the trial court would then allow the parties to present penalty evidence and direct the jury to retire a second time and consider the issue of penalty. Id. Since, at the time of the trial, there was no Florida Statute governing the procedure to be employed in a death penalty case, the trial court had no statutory authority to conduct this "bifurcated trial." Id. at 692. The Ashley court noted that the Florida Legislature had enacted a law providing for bifurcated trial procedures in a death penalty case subsequent to Ashley's trial. Id. In affirming Ashley's conviction, the Court noted that "[t]he split verdict procedure in this case not only did not prejudice the Appellant, but in fact gave him a second chance to convince the jury that he should not receive the death penalty." Id. at 692.

In the instant case, the trial court allowed the State to present closed circuit testimony on the authority of a statute which was not only non-operative but was also specifically conditioned upon its adoption by this Court pursuant to its rule making authority under Article V, \$2(a) of the Florida Constitution. This is unlike the *Ashley* situation where the trial court was guided by a *tabula rasa* and subsequent legislative enactments actually validated the trial court's actions. When the Legislature placed the conditional language in \$92.55, it was not only deferring to this Court's rule making authority but was also placing all parties on notice that the suggested revisions were procedural in nature and were to be placed into effect by the Supreme Court of Florida -

- not Florida trial courts.

Article V, §2(a) of the Florida Constitution states in relevant part:

The Supreme Court shall adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts . . . These rules may be repealed by general law enacted by two-thirds vote of the membership of each house of the legislature.

Inherent in this requirement is the conclusion that the Legislature does not have the power to enact or adopt rules for practice and procedure. *Carmel v. Carmel*, 282 So.2d 9 (1973). While the Legislature may regulate matters of substantive law, *e.g. Vaught v. State*, 410 So.2d 147 (Fla. 1982), it may not attempt to govern practice and procedure. *See Bernhardt v. State*, 288 So.2d 490 (Fla. 1974). In this case, the Legislature <u>specifically recognized</u> that §92.55 intruded into the Constitutional sphere of this Court and requested that the Court adopt it as a rule of procedure. The Court's failure to satisfy the Legislature's request rendered §92.55 a nullity.

The District Court's reliance upon the case of Gonzalez v. State, 818 S.W. 756 (Tex. Crim. App. 1991)(en banc) as authority for its decision below also must be re-examined in light of the unique Florida Constitutional provision set forth in Article V, §2(a). While the Gonzalez court allowed a child witness to testify outside of the Defendant's presence in the absence of specific statutory authority, it did not have to confront a situation where the Legislature's recommendation was specifically conditioned upon the approval of the Texas Supreme Court and the Supreme Court had failed to act. While Texas trial courts may be allowed more leeway in experimenting with trial procedures, in Florida -- and especially in this case -- the State Constitution gives this Court the responsibility of governing trial procedure.

The District Court opinion in this case also misapplied the Confrontation Clause test described in *Maryland v. Craig*, _____U.S. ____, 110 S.Ct. 3157, 111 L.Ed. 2d 666 (1990). To begin with, the reliability of the children's testimony was not assured to the point of allowing them to testify outside the presence of the Defendant. The children's pretrial statements, identifications, and lack of identifications placed their trial testimony in serious doubt. The Defendant's attempts to present expert testimony to show that the children were not competent to make identifications was rebuffed by the trial judge.

(TR.2014-2030). The inconsistencies in the childrens' statements were important in assessing their reliability. See Idaho v. Wright, _____U.S. ____, 110 S.Ct. 3139, 111 L.Ed.2d 638 (1990); Jaggers v. State, 536 So.2d 321, 325 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)("[T]here appear to be serious problems with a trial judge determining such reliability of the out of court statements in the face of directly contradictory in-court or video taped statements under oath and introduced at trial.")

Furthermore, the substantial state interest prong of the test was not satisfied in this case. The substantial state interest underlying §§92.53 and 92.54, Florida Statutes (1989), which allow videotaped and closed circuit testimony in sexual abuse or child abuse cases, does not apply in this case. In these types of cases, a rationale for the state interest is that, unless these victims are encouraged to testify, the abusers can often repeat the same acts against the same victims without fear of prosecution, because the victim's testimony or statements are typically essential to the apprehension and prosecution of child abusers. Moreover, society finds unfairness in forcing already abused child victims to suffer unnecessarily even more trauma while helping to bring their molesters to justice.

These rationales do not apply in this case, which involved homicide, not child abuse. Unlike typical child abuse cases, nothing in this case indicated that, unless the children testified, they would be subject to further instances of the same crime as that charged. i.e., homicide. They were not the objects and victims of the crime and, instead, merely happened to be witnesses. The prosecution did not have to call the children as witnesses in this case and, in fact, at one point during this case's pendency, announced that it did not intend to call the children at trial. (TR.33, 452). The trauma which these children were subjected to was the product of reliving a horrible experience and would occur regardless of whether they testified in open court or the trial judge's chambers. Altogether, the state interest in presenting the testimony in question via closed circuit television was, at best, minimal.

In conclusion, the District Court of Appeal opinion in this case was deficient in several important respects. The District Court failed to recognize that §92.55 was not only non-operational but also conditioned upon this Court's approval. Thus, the trial court's reliance upon §92.55 was not only misplaced but non-sanctioned. The Petitioner's constitutional right to confrontation was therefore violated in this case. The use of closed circuit television to present the testimony of the child witnesses in this homicide case was done without authority and caused prejudice to the Petitioner. This Court must reverse the decision of the District Court of Appeal and remand this cause for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and citations of authority, the District Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed and the cause remanded for trial.