0 1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,882

DCA CASE NO. 90-1522

SID I WHITE
SEP 4 1992
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

RICARDO HERNANDEZ,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

KATHERINE B. JOHNSON
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0867720
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Post Office Box 013241
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

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

Secondly, as was pointed out in <u>Gonzales</u>, 818 S.W.2d 756, the United States Supreme Court has confirmed that the protection of children is a legitimate and compelling State goal. <u>See New York v. Forbes</u>, 456 U.S. 747, 756-757, 102 S.Ct. 3346, 3354-3355, 73 L.Ed.2d 1113, 1121-1122 (1982)(state interest in safeguarding the physical and psychological well-being of a minor is compelling); <u>Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court</u>, 457 U.S. 596,

was in fact employed by a trial court in a prosecution for sexual battery. See Arencibia v. State, 539 So.2d 531 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

See Ch. 85.58, Laws of Fla.: "WHEREAS, it is necessary that safeguards be instituted for the children of the State of Florida who are victimized to assure that their right to be free from emotional harm and trauma occasioned by judicial proceedings is protected by the Court...."

607, 102 S.Ct. 2613, 2620, 73 L.Ed.2d 248 (1982)(state interest in safequarding protection of minor victims from further trauma); FCC v. Pacific Foundation, 438 U.S. 726, 749-750, 98 S.Ct. 3026, 3040-3041, 57 L.Ed.2d 1073 (1978)(government interest in wellbeing of its youth); Ginsberg v. New York, 390 U.S. 629, 640, 88 S.Ct. 1274, 1281, 20 L.Ed.2d 195 (1988)(state has interest in the welfare of children and safequarding them from abuses); Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 168, 64 S.Ct. 438, 443, 88 L.Ed.2d (1944)(state may secure against dangers to children). Accordingly, the fact that this Court did not amend the rules of criminal procedure as was recommended by the legislature does not preclude this Court from concluding that the State of Florida has an important interest in protecting children such as Andrea and David Acosta. The State submits that the first prong of the Craiq standard was satisfied.

An issue analogous to the one at bar was recently visited by an appellate court of New Jersey. In State v. Nutter, No. A-5898-8874 (N.J. Super, App. Div. July 2, 1992) the appellate court held that the trial court erroneously allowed child witnesses in a murder case to testify via closed-circuit television. According to the New Jersey court, such a procedure conflicted with the New Jersey statute allowing for testimony to be taken via closed-circuit television in prosecutions for sexual assault, criminal sexual assault, and child abuse cases. N.J.S.A. 2A: 84A-32.4. The court determined that since murder

cases were not included in the list of offenses where a closedcircuit television procedure could be used, the state was precluded from using the procedure. The court stated,

> Like the State, we agree that theoretically a policy interest sufficient to outweigh the right to physical confrontation may exist without the formality οf statutory codification. However, when the Legislature has considered the issue of the protection of witnesses and has delineated with precision their limited circumstances which, upon appropriate findings, will prevail over riaht defendant's to face-to-face That is the expression of the confrontation. public policy of this State. (emphasis supplied). Slip op. A-5898-8874 at p. 20.

Nutter can be distinguished from the instant case in two important respects. Foremost, the Florida Legislature did express the public policy of Florida when it enacted Section 92.55. Florida Statutes. The legislature recognized that Sections 92.53 and 92.54, Florida Statutes, were inadequate to protect the interests of child witnesses and victims under the age of 16. It thus recommended that this Court make amendments to the Rules of Criminal Procedure so as to adequately further this important state interest of protecting child witnesses and victims. The lack of the recommended amendments to the Rules of Criminal Procedure does not alter the public policy of the State of Florida which was set forth in Section 92.55, Florida Statutes. Section 92.55, Florida Statutes, is the public policy of this State.

additionally distinguishable in that the Nutter is legislative history of the New Jersey statute providing for closed-circuit television in sexual assault and abuse cases, indicates that the Statute's purpose is "to spare a youthful witness the ordeal of repeatedly discussing details of sexual assault or abuse; no more and no less." Nutter at 19. As this reasoning is inapplicable to murder cases, the New Jersey court concluded that the scope of statutory coverage does not extend beyond the cases delineated in the statute. Contrarily, in Section 92.55, Florida Statutes, the legislature intended that child witnesses and victims under the age of 16 be afforded greater protections. Moreover, the legislative history of the dealing with a closed-circuit television Florida Statutes procedure Sections 92.53 and 92.54, Florida Statutes, does not reflect a public policy applicable solely to sexual abuse cases as in Nutter. The purpose enunciated in the legislative history can be equally applicable to murder cases. See Glendening v. State, 536 So.2d 212 (purpose of Sections 92.53 and 92.54, Florida Statutes, was to spare children trauma of testifying in Nutter is therefore inapposite and this Court open court). should conclude that the closed-circuit television procedure used during the testimony of David and Andrea Acosta was necessary to further an important State interest. The inquiry thus turns to whether the testimony of Andrea and David Acosta was "otherwise assured," the second prong of the Craig standard.

In the case <u>sub judice</u>, Andrea and David Acosta were both extensively deposed by both parties. At the time of trial, they both testified under oath, (T. 1479, 1505), and were subject to rigorous, contemporaneous cross-examination. (T. 1492-1503, 1507-1510, 1524-1536). Furthermore, before the children were allowed to testify via closed-circuit television, the trial court made a case-specific determination, based on the testimony of Dr. Alvarez, that the children would suffer severe emotional trauma if forced to testify in open court in front of the Defendant. The trial court therefore made the individualized findings required under <u>Craiq</u> and thus there was no violation of the Defendant's right to confrontation.

The Defendant contends that the "reliability of the children's testimony was not assured to the point of allowing them to testify outside the presence of the Defendant. The children's pretrial statements, identifications, and lack of identification placed their trial testimony in serious doubt." (See Defendant's brief at p. 12). The Defendant's analysis is faulty in that the issue of "reliability" does not turn on whether there were inconsistencies in the pretrial statements or identification of the witnesses. The inquiry as was stated in Craig, 497 U.S. at ____, 110 S.Ct. at ____, 111 L.Ed.2d at 682, is whether the "other elements of confrontation--oath, cross-examination, and observation of the witness' demeanor" are

present, thus insuring the reliability of the witnesses' statements at the time of trial. These "other elements" of the right to confrontation were present in the instant case thus supporting the State's assertion that the testimony of Andrea and David Acosta was "otherwise assured."

Even if this Court were to determine that the issue of "reliability" did turn on whether the pretrial statements and identifications made by David and Andrea Acosta were consistent, a contrary conclusion is not warranted. David and Andrea gave substantially identical accounts of the events that transpired the night their Mother was murdered. Additionally, Andrea met with a sketch artist who drew a "composite" of the murderer based on Andrea's description of him. When David saw this "composite" he exclaimed, "That's the man that shot mommy." (T. 1840). Although Andrea was unable initially to select the Defendant from the six man photo lineup, David did identify the Defendant from this same lineup. Thus, contrary to the Defendant's assertion, the trial testimony of David and Andrea Acosta was not to be "placed ... in serious doubt," (Defendant's brief at p. 12), as the testimony of David and Andrea Acosta was "reliable."

This Court should note that David Acosta was questioned by both parties at the time of trial in order to ascertain his ability to discern truth from lies. The State asked David some preliminary questions to establish that he knew what was

happening and knew what a lie was. (T. 1505-1507). The defense then interrupted the direct examination and stated,

Before we proceed, Mr. Novick, Judge, with regard to the issue of competency, I will [sic] like to raise it at this point and perhaps be allowed to voir dire the witness. (T. 1507).

The defense then questioned David Acosta about the difference between the truth and a lie. (T. 1507-1510). Following this examination, defense counsel stated, "You can proceed, Mr. Novick." (T. 1510). The defense did not contend that David was not competent to testify. If David Acosta was not competent to testify or to make an identification, the Defendant waived this argument by failing to apprise the court of this following his preliminary examination of David.

If this Court should determine that the trial court improperly allowed David and Andrea Acosta to testify via closed circuit television as there was no authorization for such a procedure or that the requirements set forth in Craig were not met, the remaining issue before this Court is whether the error was harmless. The State submits that such a procedure, if erroneously permitted, was harmless and the Defendant's conviction should be affirmed.

In Coy v. Iowa, 487 U.S. 1012, 108 S.Ct. 2798, 101 L.Ed.2d 857 (1988) the Supreme Court concluded that violations of the Confrontation Clause, including the denial of face-to-face confrontation, were subject to harmless error analysis, 487 U.S. at 1021, 108 S.Ct. at 1803, 111 L.Ed.2d at 867. The Court stated,

An assessment of harmlessness cannot include consideration of whether the witness' testimony would have been unchanged, or the jury's assessment unaltered, had there been confrontation; such an inquiry involve pure speculation, obviously harmlessness must therefore be determined on the basis of the remaining evidence. U.S. at 1021-1022, 108 S.Ct. at 2803, 111 L.Ed.2d at 867.

In <u>Glendening v. State</u>, 526 So.2d 212, the Supreme Court of Florida relied on <u>Coy</u> and concluded that if the trial court committed error in the denial of face-to-face confrontation, the error was harmless. The child did "not implicate the defendant in any wrong doing" and in fact stated that the defendant did not hurt her. The court thus held that any alleged error was harmless as the exculpatory testimony "unquestionably did not contribute to conviction and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129, 1138 (Fla. 1986)."

Similarly, in the case <u>sub judice</u>, Andrea and David Acosta testified as to the events which transpired the night their Mother was murdered. They did not, however, identify the

Defendant at trial as the murderer. The only inculpatory testimony from these children was David's identification of the Defendant from a photo lineup. (R. 403, T. 1522, 1844). The fact that David made this identification does not contravene the State's harmless error argument. An evaluation of the remaining evidence introduced by the State establishes that even without the admission of the children's testimony, the verdict would have remained unchanged as the other evidence against the Defendant was overwhelming.

Two former co-defendants, Rene Alonso and Nestor Trimino, testified for the State and described in detail the Defendant's involvement in the burglary. According to Mr. Alonso, the Defendant was present at the first meeting at the apartment on Bird Road where the burglary was discussed as well as the subsequent meeting at the Flagler Dog Track. (T. 1545-47, 1559). Mr. Alonso identified the Defendant's car, which he had described as a small, white, imported car, in photographs shown to him by the State. (T. 1552-53). Mr. Alonso testified that just prior to the burglary, the Defendant dropped off his white car and got into a van with the rest of the group. (T. 1557-58). Defendant was present when the conspirators stationed themselves outside the Acosta home and waited to gain entry. (T. 1562-63). The Defendant was also present when Luis Dominguez left and returned to the Acosta home with a scissor-type car jack. It was the Defendant who told Mr. Alonso to leave the house as the

police were coming. The Defendant's car, which was driven by Luis Dominguez, was in fact the getaway car. (T. 1584-85). Lastly, the Defendant accompanied Mr. Alonso and Juan Mendiola four or five days after the murder to a field in order to locate the murder weapon they hid there.

Mr. Trimino also testified that the Defendant was present at the initial meeting at the apartment on Bird Road. (T. 1702-03). The night of the incident the Defendant met the others at a market and drove to approximately one block from the Acosta home. At this point, Mr. Trimino left and the Defendant accompanied the others to the house. (T. 1715-16). Mr. Trimino later saw Luis Dominguez who was in search of a jack. Mr. Dominguez got the jack from a "white car" that had been used by the group earlier in the evening. (T. 1720-21).

The Defendant testified that he was arrested in his car, a 1986 Hyundai. The Defendant testified that the photograph of the car which was shown to him by the State looked liked his car. (T. 2072). This was in fact the same car which Mr. Alonso had identified as the Defendant's. The Defendant did not know if the scissor-type jack was missing from his car as he was "never curious enough to search the car." (T. 2075). Mr. Diaz, a former detective with the Metro Dade Homicide Bureau, testified that when he arrested the Defendant in his white 1986 Hyundai, the jack was missing from the Defendant's car. (T. 2075).

The testimony of Vilma Hernandez, who stated that the Defendant was with her at the time of the murder, and the testimony of the Defendant was not credible. Mrs. Hernandez stated that when the Defendant was not at work "he would always be at home with me and if he were to go out he would have to take me and the children along." (T. 2055, 2056). The Defendant reiterated this and stated, "every time I would go out I would go out with them" (wife and children). (T. 2069). This testimony was contradicted by Mr. Diaz who testified that when the Defendant was seen driving to and from his apartment before his arrest, he was not with his wife and children but with an unknown man.

Accordingly, as the remaining evidence against the Defendant was overwhelming, the Defendant's conviction should be affirmed even if the trial court erroneously allowed the two child witnesses to testify via closed-circuit television.

The State acknowledges that this Court has postponed its decision on jurisdiction. The State submits that when such issue is addressed, this Court will conclude that it lacks discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below as it does not expressly and directly conflict with Ford v. State, 592 So.2d 271 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), rev. granted, No. 79,220 (Fla. July 6, 1992). In Ford the procedures used by the trial court failed

to meet the second requirement of <u>Craig</u>. The child witness in <u>Ford</u> did not take an oath before testifying and was not subject to rigorous cross-examination; the reliability of the testimony was thus not "otherwise assured". As the Second District Court of Appeal stated,

The trial court so severely limited defense counsel's ability to cross-examine, it resulted, in fact, in no cross-examination at all. It resulted in questions and opportunity not even approaching the right to cross-examine in conformity with right of confrontation. Id. at 3070.

In the case at bar, the reliability of the testimony of Andrea and David Acosta was "otherwise assured" as these witnesses testified under oath and were subject to rigorous cross-examination.

As the decision below does not expressly and directly conflict with an opinion of another district court, this Court lacks discretionary jurisdiction.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and citations of authority, the Defendant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.